Scrutiny Standing

Panel Agords SCRUTINY

Epping Forest District Council

Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel
Thursday, 31st May, 2012

Place: Council Chamber, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping
Time: 7.30 pm

Democratic Services Mark Jenkins (The Office of the Chief Executive)
Officer: Tel: 01992 564607 Email:

democraticservices@eppingforestdc.gov.uk

Members:

Councillors S Murray (Chairman), A Mitchell MBE (Vice-Chairman), K Chana, Mrs A Grigg,
Ms J Hart, Mrs S Jones, D Stallan, H Ulkun and Mrs J H Whitehouse

SUBSTITUTE NOMINATION DEADLINE:
18:30

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
2. SUBSITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)

(Assistant to the Chief Executive) To report the appointment of any substitute
members for the meeting.

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
(Assistant to the Chief Executive). To declare interests in any items on the agenda.

In considering whether to declare a personal or a prejudicial interest under the Code
of Conduct, Overview & Scrutiny members are asked pay particular attention to
paragraph 11 of the Code in addition to the more familiar requirements.

This requires the declaration of a personal and prejudicial interest in any matter before
an OS Committee which relates to a decision of or action by another Committee or
Sub Committee of the Council, a Joint Committee or Joint Sub Committee in which the
Council is involved and of which the Councillor is also a member.

Paragraph 11 does not refer to Cabinet decisions or attendance at an OS meeting
purely for the purpose of answering questions or providing information on such a
matter.



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Thursday, 31 May 2012

4., NOTES OF THE LAST TWO PANEL MEETINGS (Pages 5 - 18)

To agree the notes of the last two meetings of the Panel held on 5 and 13 March 2012
(attached).

5. TERMS OF REFERENCE (Pages 19 - 20)
(Chairman/Lead Officer) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has agreed the Terms
of Reference of this Panel and associated Work Programme. The Terms of Reference

only are attached. The Panel are asked at each meeting to review them.

6. CALL-IN CABINET DECISION ON FIRE SAFETY IN FLAT BLOCKS (Pages 21 -
48)

To consider a call-in of the Cabinet’s Decision on ‘Fire Safety in Flat Blocks’ (C-067-
2011/12). Call-in papers and report are attached.

The Committee noted that following further consideration and in accordance with the
Overview and Scrutiny procedure rule 20(3), the Chairman had determined that
consideration of the call-in be referred to the Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel as that
Panel has previously discussed the matter in detail.

The following documents are attached:

(a) Report submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 17 April 2012 —
page 21;

(b) Notification of Call-In — page 25;
(c) Report to the Cabinet 12 March 2012 — page 27;
(d) Letter to CLG Rt Hon. B Neill MP 8 July 2011 Appendix 1 — page 36;

(e) Letter to Councillor J Knapman from Essex County Fire and Rescue Service
18 June 2010 Appendix 2 — page 37;

) Letter to P Pledger, Assistant Director of Housing, from Essex County Fire and
Rescue Service 26 December 2011 Appendix 3 — page 39;

(9) Letter to Councillor J Knapman from Essex County Fire and Rescue Service 2
February 2012 Appendix 4 — page 40;

(h) Extract from Cabinet Decision Sheet for Cabinet Meeting held on 12 March
2012 — page 41, and

0] Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules — page 43.
7. FUTURE MEETINGS
The following scheduled meetings are listed below:

(a) Thursday 28 June 2012 at 5.30p.m. Extra-Ordinary Meeting regarding Fire

2



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Thursday, 31 May 2012
Safety for Park Homes in the Council Chamber;
(b) Tuesday 24 July;
(c) Tuesday 23 October;
(d) Tuesday 29 January 2013; and

(e) Tuesday 19 March



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 4

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL
COMMITTEE MINUTES

Committee:  Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Date: Monday, 5 March 2012

Place: Committee Room 1, Civic Offices, Time: 5.30-8.55 pm
High Street, Epping

Members A Mitchell MBE (Vice-Chairman, acting as Chairman), Ms R Brookes,
Present: Ms J Hart, D Stallan, H Ulkun, Mrs J H Whitehouse and Hyde (Tenants and
Leaseholders Federation)

Other J Knapman and Mrs M McEwen
Councillors:

Apologies: S Murray, Mrs A Grigg and Mrs S Jones

Officers A Hall (Director of Housing), L Swan (Assistant Director (Private Sector &
Present: Resources)) and M Jenkins (Democratic Services Assistant)

Also in A Chowns (CPC Project Services LLP) and P Wilson (Wilson Associates)
attendance:

47. SUBSITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)
It was noted that Councillor Mrs J Lea was substituting for Councillor Mrs A Grigg.
48. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRMAN
In the absence of the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman took over the Chairmanship and
rpnrggtci)r?geé that Councillor D Stallan serve as Vice-Chairman for the duration of the

RESOLVED:

That Councillor D Stallan serve as Vice-Chairman for the duration of the
meeting.

49. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

There were no declarations of interest made pursuant to the Member's Code of
Conduct.

50. NOTES OF THE LAST MEETING
RESOLVED:

That the notes of the last meeting of the Panel held on 31 January 2012 be
agreed.

51. TERMS OF REFERENCE / WORK PROGRAMME

(a) Terms of Reference

Page 5 1



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Monday, 5 March 2012

52.

The Panel’s Terms of Reference were noted.
(b) Work Programme

The following was noted:

(1) The following items were being deferred to the July 2012 meeting of the
Panel:

e |tem 17 Housing Service Strategy on Repairs and Maintenance

e Item 18 Housing Service Strategy on Energy Efficiency

e Item 19 Housing Service Strategy on Home Ownership

e Item 21 Housing Service Strategy on Rent Administration

(i) Iltem 25 The Annual Review of the Housing Allocations Scheme would be
discussed in October 2012, it was advised that there was likely to be a fundamental
change in the scheme.

(iii) ltem 29 Licences for Park Home Sites. Officers were awaiting more
information from Essex Fire and Rescue Service. It was hoped that an extra-ordinary
meeting of the Panel would be scheduled some time in April 2012, otherwise it would
be arranged for June 2012. The Panel were advised that it had been proposed by the
Council’'s management Board that one representative of the Park Home Site owners
and one representative of park homes resident’s associations should be invited to
speak at the meeting. However, both groups had asked that all site owners and
representatives of all residents associations should be able to speak at the meeting.
Officers therefore asked the Scrutiny Panel to determine the number of speakers that
should be invited from each group.

RESOLVED:

That at the extra-ordinary meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel
convened to discuss licences for park homes sites, the following public
speaking arrangements be made:

(1) That two representatives from the Park Home Site Owners in the
District be permitted to speak regarding licence conditions for park homes;
and

(2) That two representatives from park home residents associations in the
District be permitted to speak regarding licence conditions for park homes.

It was noted that the meeting would be webcast.
(iv) Item 32 Homelessness Strategy. This item was being held over to July 2012.

OUTCOME OF PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSE CONDITION SURVEY AND
PROPOSED NEW PRIVATE SECTOR RENEWAL STRATEGY

The Panel received a report from the Assistant Director of Housing (Private Sector
and Resources) regarding Private Sector Housing Strategy 2012 — 15.

The report sought the Panel's endorsement of the draft Private Sector Housing
Strategy (PSHS) covering the period 2012 — 2015. The draft strategy implemented
changes to the polices set out in the previous PSHS 2007 — 2011 for financial
assistance to promote the repair and improvement of sub-standard private sector

Page 6 2



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Monday, 5 March 2012

53.

housing and the adaptation of properties where there was a person with a disability.
It also implemented changes to policies in the previous PSHS dealing with the
enforcement of private sector housing standards and for giving advice, assistance
and specialist support.

The District Council has a responsibility for keeping housing conditions within its
borders under review, enforcing statutory standards to ensure satisfactory conditions
in the private housing sector and offering financial assistance to repair and/or
improve sub standard dwellings. Alongside these, a mandatory duty to provide
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) also existed.

By invitation, Mr A Chowns gave a presentation on the Private Sector House
Condition Survey on behalf of CPC Project Services LLP and Mr P Wilson gave a
presentation on the draft Private Sector Housing Strategy on behalf of Wilson
Associates. The presentation slides used are attached to these notes.

RECOMMENDED:

(1 That the Panel recommends the Draft Private Sector Housing Strategy
2012 — 15 for further consultation with key partners and stakeholders, with
appropriate comments being incorporated in the final version of the Strategy;

(2) That the final version of the Strategy be submitted to the Cabinet with
recommendation that it be formally adopted; and

(3) That the Panel monitors progress with the Action Plan on an annual
basis.

CONSIDERATION OF PROPOSED LIST OF HOUSING IMPROVEMENTS AND
SERVICE ENHANCEMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET

The Panel received a report from the Director of Housing regarding Housing
Improvements and Service Enhancements — HRA Financial Plan.

At its meeting on 5 December 2011, the Cabinet approved the strategic approach to
the new 30-Year HRA Financial Plan. The agreed approach was to plan the
repayment of the required loans to fund the CLG’s debt settlement over a 30 year
period. This enabled the Council to maintain the housing stock to a modern standard,
implement a new Council Housebuilding Programme and allow a lower rent increase
in April 2012 than assumed by the Government. It also allowed for an additional
£770,000 per annum to fund housing and service improvements. The Cabinet had
asked the Panel to consider and recommend a proposal list of housing improvements
and service enhancements, utilising the additional funding. A proposed list of 14
housing improvements and service enhancements were submitted to the Panel, they
were as follows:

(a) Acceleration of the Programme to install mains-powered smoke detectors in
every Council property within 4/5 years

(b) Provision of a free Handyperson Scheme for older and disabled tenants living
in sheltered and other Council accommodation

(c) Increasing the Disabled Adaptations Budget for one year

(d) Conversion of existing toilet facilities in communal areas of sheltered housing
schemes and community halls into disabled toilets

Page 7 3



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Monday, 5 March 2012

(e) Refurbishment of the Common Room and Kitchen Area at Jessopp Court,
Waltham Abbey

() Expansion and refurbishment of the Council’s Play Area on the Princesfield
Estate, Waltham Abbey

(9) Making the existing temporary Part time Housing Officer (Social Housing
Fraud) post permanent and full time (already recommended to the Cabinet)

(h) Creation of a Senior Housing Officer (Social Housing Fraud) Post

(1) Installation of Key Safes at Sheltered Housing Schemes
@) Creation of a new Post of Housing Under-Occupation Officer
(k) Increasing the existing budget for Estate Improvements and Enhancements

)] Expansion of the VAEF Garden Maintenance Scheme for Older and Disabled
Tenants

(m) Provision of additional dog waste bins on housing estates
(n) In-Year Housing Improvements and Enhancements Fund

At the meeting, it was suggested an additional proposal of providing a one-off grant
of £10,000 to the Furniture Recycling Scheme Project that was trying to establish
itself within the District, which the Panel agreed to include within the list
recommended to the Cabinet.

It was estimated that the following additional funding could be made available within
the Financial Plan for further housing improvements and service enhancements in
future years:

(1) An additional £750,000 per annum from April 2013;
(i) A further £250,000 per annum from April 2017;

(iii) The bringing forward of the previously planned £4.7 million increase by one
year in April 2019; and

(iv) An additional £250,000 per annum in April 2019.

It was proposed that a further recommendation be made to the Cabinet that, at it
meeting in January 2013, the Panel consider and recommend to the Cabinet the use
of both the remaining and any additional funding available within the HRA Financial
Plan for housing improvements and service enhancements in 2013/14 and future
years.

The Tenants and leaseholders Federation had considered the proposals in advance
of the Panel meeting and had supported all the proposals put forward by officers.

RECOMMENDED:
(1) That, the Panel reports to the Cabinet and recommend the list of

Housing Improvements and Service Enhancements funded from the

Page 8 4



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Monday, 5 March 2012

54.

£770,000 per annum budget included within the 30-Year HRA Financial Plan
as a result of the HRA self-financing arrangements;

(2) That, the Cabinet be asked to record the detailed recommendations
emboldened in the Cabinet minutes;

(3) That a recommendation be made to the Cabinet that, at its meeting in
January 2013, the Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel consider and recommend
to the Cabinet the use of both the remaining and any additional funding
available within the HRA Financial Plan for housing improvements and
service enhancements in 2013/14 and future years, after consultation with the
Tenants and Leaseholders Federation;

(4) That the Panel’s report to the Cabinet be based on the content and
approach of the report by officers to the Panel; and

(5) That the Panel Chairman present this report to the Cabinet on the 23
April 2012.

HOUSING STRATEGY ACTION PLAN - 6 MONTH PROGRESS REPORT

The Panel received a report from the Director of Housing regarding the Housing
Strategy - Six Month Progress Report on Key Action Plan 2011/12 and production of
a new Housing Strategy.

At its meeting in September 2009, the Cabinet adopted the Housing Strategy 2009-
2012. The Housing Strategy assessed the District's current and future housing needs
and set out the Council's approach to meeting those needs. The strategy also
included a Key Action Plan which set out the proposed actions that would be taken
by the Council to contribute towards the achievement of the housing objectives over
the first year of the Housing Strategy. The Cabinet also agreed that the Key Action
Plans should be produced and updated on an annual basis for approval by the
Cabinet and that progress with the Key Action Plans should be monitored on a 6
monthly basis by this Panel.

It was originally anticipated that the Housing Strategy would cover the three year
period 2009-2012 and would be updated during 2012 to cover the following three
years. However, there were a number of important issues that were expected to be
concluded by the Council over the next year which would have a significant impact
on the strategy. These included:

o Arefresh of the Council’'s Strategic Housing Market Assessment;

e The production of the Council’'s Strategic Housing Land Assessment through
the “Call for Sites” exercise;

e The production of the Council’s Draft Local Plan, which would set out the
Council's proposed plans on the number and proposed location of new
homes in the District; and

e The Council’'s decisions on housing issues relating to the Localism Act,
including a revised eligibility criteria for the Council’'s Housing Register and
the possibility of the introduction of fixed term flexible tenancies by the
Council, instead of “lifetime” secure tenancies.

Page 9 5



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Monday, 5 March 2012

55.

56.

Under these circumstances, it was not considered yet possible to formulate a robust
and sustainable Housing Strategy for the next three years.

Therefore, it was suggested that consideration should be given to advising the
Housing Portfolio Holder that the production of the next Housing Strategy be deferred
for one year, and produced in 2013/14. In the meantime, it was further suggested
that an updated Housing Strategy Key Action Plan for 2012/13 be considered by the
Panel in July 2012, and that progress with the Action Plan be then monitored on a six
monthly basis by the Panel in the normal way.

RECOMMENDED:

(1 That the 6 Month progress Report on the Housing Strategy Key Action
Plan 2011/12 be noted:;

(2) That a recommendation be made to the Housing Portfolio Holder that:

(a) The production of the next Housing Strategy be deferred for one year,
and be produced in 2013./14, due to the number of issues that are expected
to be concluded over the next year; and

(b) That, in the meantime, a further Housing Strategy Key Action Plan for
2012/13 be considered by the Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel in July 2012
for recommendation to the Cabinet, with progress monitored on a six-monthly
basis by the Panel.

REPORTS TO BE MADE TO THE NEXT MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There were no reports being submitted to the forthcoming meeting of the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee.

FUTURE MEETINGS

The next meeting of the Panel was scheduled for Tuesday 13 March 2012 at
5.30p.m. in Committee Room 1.

CHAIRMAN

Page 10 6



EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL
NOTES OF A MEETING OF HOUSING SCRUTINY STANDING PANEL
HELD ON TUESDAY, 13 MARCH 2012
IN COMMITTEE ROOM 1, CIVIC OFFICES, HIGH STREET, EPPING
AT 5.30 - 8.08 PM

Members S Murray (Chairman), A Mitchell MBE (Vice-Chairman), Ms R Brookes,
Present: K Chana, Mrs A Grigg, Ms J Hart, Mrs S Jones, D Stallan and
Mrs J H Whitehouse
Other members Mrs M McEwen
present:

Apologies for
Absence:

Officers Present A Hall (Director of Housing), P Pledger (Assistant Director (Property and

57.

58.

59.

Resources)), R Wilson (Assistant Director (Operations)) and M Jenkins
(Democratic Services Assistant)

SUBSITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)

There were no substitute members present.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

(1) Pursuant to the Council's Code of Member Conduct Councillors S Murray,
Mrs A Grigg and Mrs J Whitehouse declared a personal interest in the following item
of the agenda by virtue of being related to armed forces personnel. The Councillors
maintained that their interests were not prejudicial and that they would remain in the

meeting for the duration of the meeting and voting thereon:

e Item 5 Council Response to CLG Consultation Paper on Revised Allocations
Code of Guidance

(2) Pursuant to the Council's Code of Member Conduct, Councillor Mrs M
McEwen declared a personal interest in the following item of the agenda by virtue of
being a member of the Women’s Royal Air Force Association. The Councillor
maintained that her interest was not prejudicial and that she would remain in the
meeting for the duration of the meeting and voting thereon:

e Item 5 Council Response to CLG Consultation Paper on Revised Allocations
Code of Guidance.

TERMS OF REFERENCE / WORK PROGRAMME
(a) Terms of Reference

The Panel’'s Terms of Reference were noted.

(b) Work Programme

The following was noted:

Page 111



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Tuesday, 13 March 2012

60.

(i) Item 27 Provision of Smoke Detectors in Communal Blocks or Council
Properties

A report had been submitted to the Cabinet on 12 March 2012at which they had
generally agreed with the Portfolio Holder's recommendations, adding that carpets in
common parts of flat blocks should not be allowed and after a four month period from
the date of the decision made, the removal of carpets where residents had previously
loose laid or fitted them, and had not removed them voluntarily be enforced by the
Council unless certain conditions were not within the four month period as advised by
the Chief Fire Officer of the Essex County Fire and Rescue Service. Officers would
confirm these instructions to tenants in writing.

(i) Item 29 Presentation and Review of the Success of the Council’s Social
Housing Fraud Pilot Scheme and Consideration of Recommendations to the
Cabinet

The Cabinet, at its meeting on 12 March, agreed to make both permanent and full
time the post of Housing Officer (Social Housing Fraud).

Although separate from the Panel’'s Terms of Reference and Work Programme it was
noted that at the last Panel meeting, the Chairman had sent his apologies because of
a 24 hour OFSTED Inspection at his school.

COUNCIL RESPONSE TO CLG CONSULTATION PAPER ON REVISED
ALLOCATIONS CODE OF GUIDANCE

The Panel received a report from the Assistant Director of Housing regarding a
suggested Council response to the CLG Consultation Paper on a revised Allocations
Code of Guidance.

In January 2012, the Department for Communities and Local Government issued a
consultation paper on “Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing
authorities in England. The closing date for responses was 30 March 2012.

Chapter One

(1) Does your allocations scheme/transfer policy already provide for social
tenants who are under-occupying to be given priority?

Response: Yes. Tenants who wished to “downsize” were given both Band One
priority and also received a financial incentive.

(2) Do you intend to revise your allocation scheme in order to make it easier for
under-occupying social tenants to downsize to more appropriately sized
accommodation?

Response: Members would give the matter consideration later in the year, once
the final guidance had been issued.

(3) If so, what changes to your allocations scheme will you be considering to
make it easier for under-occupying tenants to downsize?

Response: The Government could consider removing any penalties for refusals of

tenancy offers for those downsizing and also reducing the age restriction for
occupying bungalows for those downsizing.

Page 12



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Tuesday, 13 March 2012

Other comments: Paragraph 1.7 of the consultation stated that transfer
applicants with “reasonable preference” were to be treated on the same basis as new
applicants, whereas authorities could set their own transfer polices for these
applicants who did not have reasonable preference. Therefore, this meant that any
priority could be given to transfer applicants who were not entitled to reasonable
preference. There should be provisions for preventing any authority from prioritising
in this way.

Chapter Two

Other comments: The Council welcomed paragraph 2.5 for the opportunity of
having its own eligibility criteria for its waiting list and the proposal that an applicant
could be treated as ineligible if they were guilty of serious unacceptable behaviour.

With regards to paragraph 2.6 of the consultation, the Council consider it very
unfortunate that the existing legislation allowed for a right to a review on eligibility as
this would be difficult to administer.

Chapter Three

(4) Do you agree that members of the Armed Forces and former Service
personnel should not be disqualified on residency grounds? Is 5 years from the date
of discharge an appropriate time limit for this restriction? If not, what would be a more
appropriate period?

Response: The Council supported the proposal that members of the armed forces
and former service personnel should not be disqualified on residency grounds.
However it was believed that an appropriate time limit would be 3 years from the date
of discharge because this was considered a more appropriate period within which
they could have found settled accommodation. “Members of the armed forces and
service personnel should be more clearly defined than was set out under Section 374
of the Armed Forces Act. Did this include clerical workers for example?

(5) Does the draft guidance provide sufficient clarity on how to implement the
new power for housing authorities to set their own allocations qualification criteria? If
not, in what areas would more guidance be useful?

Response: It could be made more clearer that if an applicant had “reasonable
preference” but did not meet the eligibility criteria for joining the housing register, then
they could still be excluded from the list,

Chapter Four

(6) Do you agree that the bedroom standard is an appropriate measure of
overcrowding for the purpose of according reasonable preference? If not, what
measure do you consider would be more appropriate?

Response: No. Bearing in mind the shortage of accommodation it was considered
reasonable for same sex persons to share a bedroom irrespective of their age.
Therefore, it was suggested that there should be the following two bullet points
included in Paragraph 4.11:

e Married or cohabiting couples; and
e Two persons of the opposite sex over the age of 8 years.

Pagesi3



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Tuesday, 13 March 2012

(7) Should this guidance provide advice on how to define “overcrowding” for the
purpose of according additional preference? If so, would an appropriate measure be
two bedrooms or more short of the bedroom standard?

Response: The Council considered that “overcrowding” should be determined
based upon the current requirements of the Housing Act Part X.

(8) How does your allocations scheme currently define “overcrowding” for
allocation purposes? Does it, for example, use the bedroom standard, the statutory
overcrowding standards in Part X of the Housing Act 1985, or another definition? If
the last of these please provide brief details.

Response: “Where the permitted number, in accordance with the provisions of
S.326 of the Housing Act 1985 is exceeded.” However, applicants lacking a bedroom
were also given some priority.

(9) The Government proposes to regulate to require housing authorities to frame
their allocations scheme to provide for former service personnel with urgent housing
needs to be given additional preference for social housing. Do you agree with this
proposal?

Response: The Council generally supported the proposal. It would be helpful if
paragraph 4.19 was clearer. Did this mean that former members of the Armed Forces
would be given additional preference above those applicants who were already in
reasonable preference categories?

(10)  Does your allocations scheme already make use of the flexibilities within the
allocation legislation to provide for those who have served in the armed forces to be
given greater priority for social housing? If so, how does your scheme provide for
this?

Response: No

(11)  If not how do you intend to take advantage of the flexibilities in the allocation
legislation to provide for former members of the armed forces to be given greater
priority for social housing? If so what changes might you is considering?

Response: The Council did intend to provide greater priority for members of the
Armed Forces for social housing. Members would be considering the matter on
receipt of the final guidance. The Council welcomed the proposal to disregard any
lump sums received by a member of the Armed Forces as compensation for injury or
disability sustained on active service.

(12)  Does your allocations scheme already provide for some priority to be given to
people who are in work, seeking work, or otherwise contributing to the community? If
s0, how does your scheme provide for this?

Response: The District Council's scheme gave some priority to applicants who
were needing to move to be nearer to their place of work, or to take up a permanent
offer of employment, or a long term training opportunity which may lead to
employment.

Page 14



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Tuesday, 13 March 2012

61.

(13) If not, do you intend to revise your allocations scheme to provide for more
priority to be given to people who are in work, seeking work, or otherwise contributing
to the community? If so, how does your scheme provide for this?

Response: Members would be considering whether or not they wished to give
further priority to people who were in work, on receipt of the final guidance. It may be
difficult to define what “contributing to the community” means.

(14)  Are there other ways in which housing authorities can frame their allocation
scheme to meet the needs of prospective adopters and foster carers?

Response: The Council considered that there was a marked difference between
an adopter and a foster carer as adoption was a more long-term permanent
arrangement. If the Council decided to use Flexible Tenancies in the future, these
could be granted to adopters and foster carers for an appropriate fixed-term and be
reviewed at the end of the period under the assessment criteria. The guidance may
want to include this approach as a possible way of dealing with prospective adopters
and foster carers. It was suggested that Children’s Services should notify the Council
when an appropriate point had been reached in the adopting/fostering process where
any person was likely to be accepted.

(15) Does the draft guidance provide sufficient clarity on the extent of flexibilities
available to housing authorities when framing their allocation schemes?

Response: Yes, subject to the comments made under each consultation question.

Under paragraph 4.38 of the consultation, officers felt that providing an additional
bedroom for carers who were not residing at the property could be open to abuse
and the potential waste of a bedroom. The Council would currently only consider
granting an additional bedroom if a carer was living at the accommodation as their
only, or principle home and could demonstrate that they had given up permanent
accommodation to enter into the arrangement.

RESOLVED:

(1) That the CLG Consultation paper “Allocation of Accommodation:
Guidance for Local Authorities in England,” be noted; and

(2) That the proposed Council response to the consultation be agreed.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUSINESS PLAN KEY ACTION PLAN 2011/12 -
12 MONTH PROGRESS REPORT

The Panel received a report from the Director of Housing regarding the Housing
Revenue Account Business Plan Key Action Plan (2011/12) — 12 Month Progress
Report.

In March 2011, the Council’'s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan for
2011/12 was produced, incorporating the Repairs and Maintenance Business Plan.
This document set out the Council’s objectives, strategies and plans as landlord, in
relation to the management and maintenance of its own housing stock.

RESOLVED:

Pagesi5



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Tuesday, 13 March 2012

62.

63.

That the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan Key Action Plan (2011/12)
— 12 Month Progress Report be noted.

HRA BUSINESS PLAN AND REPAIRS/MAINTENANCE BUSINESS PLANS
2012/13

The Panel received a report from the Director of Housing regarding the proposed
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2012-13.

The Government's Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG)
required all local authorities to produce annual Business Plans for their Housing
Revenue Accounts (HRAs). The CLG’s intention was to ensure that local authority
housing was used and maintained to maximum effect. HRA Business Plans dealt
with council’'s plans and performance for the delivery and quality of its housing
services to tenants. Detailed guidance was issued by the former ODPM (the
predecessor to the CLG) which prescribed the form in which business plans must be
produced, and included the requirement for clear repair and maintenance strategies
to be set out and, ideally, for detailed financial forecasts to be produced for thirty
years hence.

It was suggested that an item be added to the Panel's Work Programme for next year
for a presentation on the progress made by Mears, the Council’s External Repairs
Management Contractor. This could possibly be considered at the July 2012 panel
meeting.

RECOMMENDED:

(1) That the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2012/13,
incorporating the HRA Financial Plan and the repairs and Maintenance
Business Plan 2012/13 be recommended to the Housing Portfolio Holder for
adoption; and

(2) That an item be added to next year's Panel Work Programme
regarding a presentation on the progress made by the External Repairs
Management Contractor.

HOUSING DIRECTORATE'S SERVICE STRATEGIES ON EMPTY COUNCIL
PROPERTIES, OLDER PEOPLE'S SERVICES & HOUSING AND
NEIGHBOURHOOD MANAGEMENT

The Panel received a report from the Assistant Director of Housing regarding the
Housing Directorate’s Service Strategies on Empty Council Properties, Older
People’s Services and Housing and Neighbourhood Management.

The Housing Directorate’s Service Strategies were originally produced around 15
years ago in accordance with an agreed standard framework, and had since been
updated. The strategies provided more detail than the main Housing Strategy on the
various housing services provided. In total, 17 Housing Strategies had been
produced to date.

RECOMMENDED:
That the Housing Directorate’s Service Strategies on Empty Council

Properties, Older People Services and Housing and Neighbourhood
Management be recommended to the Housing Portfolio Holder.

Page 16



Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel Tuesday, 13 March 2012

64.

65.

66.

SOLAR PV TO COUNCIL HOUSING

The Panel received a report from the Assistant Director of Housing (Property)
regarding Solar PV to Council Housing.

The Panel had previously considered and supported a feasibility report into the
installation of solar photovoltaic panels on Council-owned properties throughout the
District. However, shortly after that decision was made, the Government announced
a significant cut in the amount of grant known as the “Feed-In Tariff’ (FIT), which
would help off-set the high one-off capital cost of installing Solar PV to generate
electricity.

The scale of the change had caused some turmoil in the industry, with many
installers either ceasing to trade or writing-off significant investment. Therefore the
number of installers available to tender would be far more limited than before which
would lead to higher costs.

RESOLVED:

That the proposed further feasibility study into the installation of Solar PV on
Council-owned buildings be suspended, following the Government’s recent
decision to significantly reduce the level of Feed-In Tariff.

REPORTS TO BE MADE TO THE NEXT MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

The Chairman advised that he would give verbal updates and the next meeting of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting in April on the following:

(a) Council response to CLG Consultation Paper revised Allocations Code of
Guidance; and

(b) HRA Business and Repairs/Maintenance Business Plans 2012/13.

FUTURE MEETINGS

This was the last panel meeting for 2011/12 and Councillor Mrs R Brookes took the
opportunity of thanking officers, Panel Members and the Housing Portfolio Holder for
their work over the last year. She also extended particular thanks to Councillors D
Stallan and Mrs A Grigg for their approach and helpfulness.

It was advised that there would be an extra-ordinary meeting of the Panel scheduled
possibly in April to discuss licences for park homes. The programme of meetings for
the next year was as follows:

(a) Tuesday 24 July 2012 at 5.30p.m. in Committee Room 1;

(b) Tuesday 23 October at 5.30p.m. in Committee Room 1;

(c) Tuesday 29 January 2013 at 5.30p.m. in Committee Room 1; and

(d) Tuesday 19 March at 5.30p.m. in Committee Room 1.

Pagen7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Agenda ltem 5

TERMS OF REFERENCE - STANDING PANEL

Title: Housing

Status: Standing Panel

Terms of Reference:

(1) To undertake reviews of public and private sector housing policies on behalf of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee, Housing Portfolio Holder or Head of Housing Services and to make any
recommendations arising from such reviews to the Housing Portfolio Holder or Cabinet as
appropriate.

(2) To undertake specific projects related to public and private sector housing issues, as directed by
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and to make any recommendations arising from such reviews
to the Housing Portfolio Holder or Cabinet as appropriate.

(3) To consider and provide comments to the Housing Portfolio Holder on the following matters,
prior to consideration by the Cabinet:

(i) Draft Housing Strategy (to be adopted by full Council in accordance with the
Council's Constitution)

(ii) Draft Private Sector Housing Strategy

(iii) Draft Private Sector Housing Grants Policy

(iv) Annual Review of the Housing Allocations Scheme

(4) To consider and provide comments to the Housing Portfolio Holder on draft versions of the
following documents:

(i) Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan
(ii) Local Supporting People Strategy
(iii) Housing Service Strategies

(5) To undertake the Annual Ethnic Monitoring Review of Housing Applicants and Housing
Allocations, in accordance with the Code of Practice in Rented Housing.

(6) To monitor progress with the actions plans contained in the following documents, on a six-
monthly basis:

(i) Housing Strategy

(i) Local Supporting People Strategy
(iii) Private Sector Housing Strategy

(iv) Housing Services Development Plan

(7) To consider the Housing Portfolio Holder’s draft response to any consultation papers relating to
public or private sector housing that the Housing Portfolio Holder considers warrants a response
from the Council.

(8) In relation to Traveller issues to consider and monitor:
(a) the position regarding tolerated sites and;
(b) the management of travellers who enter onto land within the district with a

view to unauthorised encampments, with particular reference to the legal remedies
available, interactions with other agencies such as Essex Police and Essex County

ﬁa@eTﬂéoos\TERMS OF REFERENCE - STANDING PANEL.doc



Council and the provision of emergency and/or transit sites within the district;

(c) Government’s guidance on the needs of travellers in the context of the
Council’s review of its District Local Plan and the Essex Housing Needs
Assessment;

(d) the results of the Commission for Racial Equality’s study on traveller issues
in which this Council participated, once published;

(9) To report to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Council and the Cabinet with
recommendations on matters allocated to the Panel as appropriate.

Chairman: ClIr Stephen Murray

Pag@u@ﬁxe 2005\TERMS OF REFERENCE - STANDING PANEL.doc




Agenda ltem 6

Report to Overview & Scrutiny
Committee

Date of meeting: 29 November 2011 S C RUTl N Y

Portfolio: Housing Epping Forest District Council

Subject: Call in — Fire Safety in Flat Blocks

Officer contact for further information: Adrian Hendry / Paul Pledger

Committee Secretary: Adrian Hendry — Ext 4246

Recommendations/Decisions Required:

To consider the call-in of Cabinet decision C-067-2011/12 regarding Fire Safety in
blocks of flats.

Report:

1. In accordance with rule 20 of the Overview and Scrutiny Rules, 5 members have
called in the Cabinet’s decision, taken on 12 March 2012 and published on 20 March 2012.
This decision relates to the Cabinet’s decision confirming the Policy on Fire Safety in Flat
Blocks, agreed by the former Housing Portfolio Holder in January 2010.

2. The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee determined that consideration
of the call-in should be referred to this meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

3. Attached to this report are:

(a) Copies of all documentation submitted to the Cabinet on which the decision
was based;

(b) A copy of the notification of the call in including the names of the relevant
Councillors who requested the call in and their grounds for so doing; and

(c) A copy of an extract of the Council’s procedures for dealing with call-ins.
Consideration of the Call — in

4. In accordance with the Council’s Protocol (attached) the consideration of call-ins by
the Committee should be considered in the following manner:

(a) the representative of the Councillors calling in the decision shall describe their
concerns;

(b) the Portfolio Holder shall then respond;

Page 21 1



(c) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel will then debate the
issues involved. The Chairman of the meeting shall have the discretion to vary the
way in which evidence is gathered including speakers and public participation if
appropriate but shall seek a response from the initiating Councillor(s) and the Portfolio
Holder before formulating its recommendations;

(d) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel has the following
options:

(1) confirm the decision, which may then be implemented immediately; or

(i) refer the decision back to the decision taker for further consideration setting
out in writing the nature of its concerns; or

(iii) refer the matter to full Council in the event that the Committee or Panel
considers the decision to be contrary to the policy framework of the Council or
contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the budget.

(e) If it appears that the review of a decision of the Executive cannot be
completed at one meeting, the Executive or decision taker will be informed, indicating
any preliminary views the Committee or Panel may have and a proposed timescale
for the completion of the review. The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee/Panel shall, if necessary, consult with the Leader of the Council regarding
the urgency of the proposed decision or any other related matter;

() The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel
shall sum up the recommendations to be submitted to the Executive and these shall
be incorporated in full in the Minutes or report of the meeting;

(9) In cases where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel
determines that a review of the decision is not justified or that, having reviewed the
decision of the Executive, it has no adverse comment to make, the Committee or
Panel shall ensure that its decision is published in the Members' Bulletin;

(h) In the circumstances outlined in (g) above, the decision of the Executive or
Decision Taker may be implemented with effect from the date of that meeting;

(i) A report detailing any appropriate recommendations of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel shall be reported to the Decision Taker

@) In presenting the recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
or delegated Panel, the Chairman may make general comments on the Committee's /
Panel's recommendations, answer questions and respond to comments or new
proposals made by the Executive at that meeting; and

(k) The report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel shall
be sent in draft to all its Members for approval prior to their submission to the Decision
Taker.

)] Minority reports may be made by members of Overview and Scrutiny
Committee or delegated Panel in accordance with the Protocol for that purpose.

Page 22 2



5. If, having considered the decision, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated
Panel is still concerned about it, then it may, subject to the procedures outlined in Rule 16(a)
or (b) in attached, refer it back to the decision making person or body for reconsideration,
setting out in writing the nature of its concerns or refer the matter to full Council. If referred to
the decision maker they shall then reconsider within a further 5 working days, or in the case
of a Cabinet decision, as soon as practically possible amending the decision or not, before
adopting a final decision.

6. If the matter was referred to full Council and the Council does not object to a decision
which has been made, then no further action is necessary and the decision will be effective in
accordance with the provision below. However, if the Council does object, it has no power to
make decisions in respect of an executive decision unless it is contrary to the policy
framework, or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the budget. Unless that is the case,
the Council will refer any decision to which it objects back to the decision-making person or
body, together with the Council’'s views on the decision. That decision-making body or
person shall choose whether to amend the decision or not before reaching a final decision
and implementing it. Where the decision was taken by the Executive as a whole or a
committee of it, a meeting will be convened to reconsider within 14 working days of the
Council request. Where the decision was made by an individual, the individual will
reconsider within 14 working days of the Council request.

7. If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision back to the
decision-making body or person, the decision will become effective on the date of the Council
meeting or expiry of the period in which the Council meeting should have been held,
whichever is the earlier.

8. The Committee are asked to consider the decision taken by the Cabinet and report
accordingly.

Page 23 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL

Notification Of Call — In Of Cabinet Or Portfolio Holder Decision Under Rule 20
(8) (Page J13 of the Constitution) Of The Overview And Scrutiny Rules

This form must be signed and completed and the original returned to the
proper officer in person no later than 10.00 a.m. on the 5" working day
following publication of the decision

Decision to be called-in: Fire Safety in Flat Blocks

Decision reference: C-067 —2011/12

Portfolio: HOUSING

Description of Decision:

As per Cabinet decision on Fire Safety in Flat Blocks on 12.03.12

Reason for Call —in

The fundamental decision of the Cabinet regarding fire safety in flat blocks is not
being opposed, but:

No distinction was made between 2 storey flat blocks and flat blocks of 3 or more
storeys; and

The proposed conditions in paragraph 2 and 3 are too onerous to comply with.

In relation to paragraph 2 and 3 of the decision:
1) that the 4 month permitted period be extended to 2 years, due to the time
it will take for mains alarms, approved fire doors and other agreed
measures to be in place.

2) That the Council should remove, free of charge, any non-complying
carpets.
3) That residents of 2 storey flat blocks can, in future, install carpet

conforming to BS5287 once all conditions are met.

Members requesting call — in (3 members of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee or 5 other members)

Members Name: Signed:

Lead member:
Jennie Hart

Ken Angold-Stephens

Tessa Cochrane

Caroline Pond

Lance Leonard

Office Use Only: Date Received: 21 March 2012

Page 25




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



Report to the Cabinet

Report reference: C-067-2011/12 _

Date of meeting: 12 March 2012 Epping Forest
District Council

Portfolio: Housing

Subject: Fire Safety in Common Parts of Flat Blocks

Responsible Officer: Paul Pledger (01992 564281)

Democratic Services Officer: Gary Woodhall (01992 564470).

Recommendations/Decisions Required:

1. That the Cabinet confirms the Policy on Fire Safety in Flat Blocks, agreed by the
former Housing Portfolio Holder in January 2010, namely:

(1) That the Council continues to enforce the removal of personal
belongings and any other items stored in common parts of flats, with the
exception of the following concessions as put forward by the Workplace Fire
Safety Officer of the Essex Fire and Rescue Service:

(a) Pictures hung on the wall, provided that they do not contain glass in the
frame;

(b) Mats placed outside front doors, provided that these are rubber backed
(non-slip) and have a chamfered edge all around;

(c) Curtains at windows that are flame retardant; and

(d) Non-flammable items which are aesthetically pleasing (e.g. plant pots)
stored in recesses away from any means of escape routes, and not on window
cills;

(2) That carpets in common parts of the flat blocks not be allowed and that
within a 2-month period of the date of this decision, the Council enforces the
removal of carpets where residents have either loose laid or fitted them;

(3) That further consideration be given to undertaking an enhancement
programme of installing mains-powered smoke detectors in all Council-owned
properties, when the Housing Scrutiny Panel considers the proposed list of
housing improvements and service enhancements, funded from the additional
resources made available under HRA Self-Financing;

(4) That smoke alarms are not installed in common parts of flat blocks in
line with the recommendations within the Local Government Group Guidance
document “Fire safety in purpose built flat blocks”; and

(5) That the Director of Housing explores further a joint working approach to
fire safety risk assessments in flat blocks with Harlow District Council.

Page 27



Executive Summary:

Since the introduction of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, the Council has
had a responsibility to undertake fire risk assessments at all blocks of flats. Through the
advice, previously provided informally, from the Essex Fire & Rescue Service the Council
adopted a policy that prevented residents from storing their belongings in the common parts
as these formed the means of escape in the event of a fire. This included carpets, as they
could contribute towards a fire.

Following complaints from a small number of residents, the Housing Scrutiny Panel
considered the Policy, who supported a change to allow a slightly more “managed” approach
to fire safety in flat blocks. Recommendation 1 of this report records the outcome of the
Housing Scrutiny Panel views, which were subsequently approved by the former Housing
Portfolio Holder. However, following continuing complaints by a small number of residents,
the Former Portfolio Holder decided to review the decision not to allow carpets in the
common parts of flat blocks.

Further advice was sought from the Housing Minister and the Fire Officer, and a feasibility
study was undertaken into reducing the risk of fire in Council properties. The outcome of this
was again considered by the Housing Scrutiny Panel at its meeting in January 2012, who
supported the recommendations set out above. Since then, a further letter has been received
from the Chief Fire Officer at Essex County Fire & Rescue Service and is referred to in this
report.

Reasons for Proposed Decision:

In order to comply with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, the Council must set
a clear Policy and subsequently enforce that Policy by undertaking Fire Risk Assessments,
and then following up any actions that arise as a result. The current Policy is partly “at large”
pending a review of carpets installed in the common parts, and therefore requires a decision
on the terms of the Policy.

Other Options for Action:

o To allow existing carpets in flat blocks to remain only where the carpet is fitted
professionally and in a good condition, and where there is a door entry security
system and all individual flats have a smoke detector, until such time as the carpet
deteriorates causing a trip hazard, at which point it must be removed and not
replaced. However, this will require additional annual risk inspections to determine the
condition of the carpet. In addition, there would still remain a risk to health should a
fire occur.

e To undertake a full programme of instaling smoke detection equipment in the
common parts of flat blocks before then actively allowing carpets to be installed.
However, there still remains a risk to health should a fire occur.

Report:

1. In January 2010, following consultation with the Housing Scrutiny Panel, the then
Housing Portfolio Holder agreed a policy on fire safety in flat blocks. The policy stated:

(a) That personal belongings, fitted or loose lay carpets, mats and any other items stored

in common parts of flats be prohibited and removed, with the exception of the following
concessions agreed with the Workplace Fire Safety Officer of the Essex Fire and Rescue

Page 28



Service:
(i) Pictures hung on the wall, provided that they do not contain glass in the frame.

(ii) Mats placed outside front doors, provided that these are rubber backed (non-
slip) and have a chamfered edge all around.

(i) Curtains at windows that are flame retardant.

(iv) Non-flammable items which are aesthetically pleasing (eg small plant pots)
stored in recesses away from any means of escape routes, and not on window cills
(specifically not including prams, pushchairs, wheelchairs, electric scooters, bicycles
and motorbikes.); and

(b) That letters be sent to all tenants and leaseholders in the blocks advising them of
these concessions.

2. Following the introduction of that Policy, a small number of residents requested that a
further review be undertaken as they felt the policy was too risk averse and prevented them
from making their flat blocks feel more homely by allowing carpets in common areas.

3. In January 2011, the then Housing Portfolio Holder decided to temporarily suspend
the policy relating only to carpets in the common parts until such time as a further feasibility
study was carried out.

4. That decision to suspend the policy was a temporary measure, until such time as a
number of additional factors could be taken into account. The following were included in the
decision to suspend the policy:

(a) That a feasibility study be carried out into the cost and practicalities of installing mains
operated smoke detectors in:

. Flats and Maisonettes; and/or
. Houses and bungalows; and/or
° Common parts to flats

(b) That a letter be sent to the Housing Minister seeking clarification on the extent to
which landlords must go when undertaking fire risk assessments;

(c) That the Portfolio Holder for Legal and Estates be asked to review the Council’s legal
responsibility in respect of undertaking Fire Risk Assessments and in particular the risks
associated with fitted carpets on means of escapes in common parts to flat blocks;

(d) That until the outcome of the issues above are known, the current Policy on fire safety
in common parts of flat blocks agreed in January 2010 relating to residents not being allowed
to retain fitted or loose lay carpets be suspended until further notice; and

(e) That personal belongings and any other items stored in common parts of flats
continue to be prohibited and removed, with the exception of the following:

. Pictures hung on the wall, provided that they do not contain glass in the frame.
o Curtains at windows that are flame retardant
. Non-flammable items which are aesthetically pleasing (eg small plant pots) stored in

recesses away from any means of escape routes, and not on window cills (specifically not
including prams, pushchairs, wheelchairs, electric scooters, bicycles and motorbikes.)

Page 29



5. The former Housing Portfolio Holder sent a letter to the Housing Minister in March
2011 expressing the concerns of Members about the lack of clarity and guidance available to
local authorities when assessing fire safety in flat blocks following the Regulatory Reform
(Fire Safety) Order. A response was received from the Parliamentary Under Secretary of
State in July 2011, a copy of which can be found at Appendix 1.

6. The response form the Parliamentary Under Secretary of State made reference to the
Local Government Improvement and Development (LIGD) part of the Local Government
Group being given grant funding to develop and own practical and proportionate fire safety
guidance specifically for residential buildings. That guidance was formally issued shortly after
the letter was received, and is made up of 192 pages and therefore forms a background
document to this report. Whilst the guidance does not make specific reference to carpets, it is
a much clearer document, with statistics that support the guidance to help local authorities
inform their risk assessments.

Fire Safety Guidance

7. The fire safety guidance specifically issued by the Local Government Group advises
that very few deaths occur as a result of a fire in a neighbour’s flat or a fire in the common
part, mainly due to the fire separation between the flats. This assumes that the protected
common parts are themselves free of all sources of ignition and material that could contribute
to the spread of flames. The report goes on to state that nearly all deaths occur in the flat in
which the fire starts. This means that more emphasis should be put on smoke detection in the
flats rather than the common parts.

8. Further more, the guidance strongly discourages the installation of smoke detectors in
common parts as this leads to false alarms, chaotic evacuation of an unsupervised building
and potential complacency from residents.

9. The report also states that whilst the most likely place for a fire to start is in the flat,
the most dangerous fires are those within the common parts, as the common parts are the
means by which residents must escape. The guidance suggests that poor housekeeping in
the common parts is a significant fire hazard, and adds that there should be a clear policy on
whether common parts must remain completely sterile (‘zero tolerance’) or may be subject to
‘managed use’.

10. A zero tolerance policy is one in which residents are not permitted to use the common
parts to store or dispose of their belongings or rubbish with no exceptions. This would
maintain an environment that is free of obstructions, ignition sources and trip hazards. This is
the easiest policy to adopt and easier to police when carrying out inspections; residents know
exactly what is expected of them and the risks are low.

11. A managed use policy on the other hand allows residents some scope to make the
common parts more homely. However, a managed use policy must be very specific in terms
of what is allowed and what is not. It must leave no scope for ambiguity. The guidance
suggests that any managed use policy should generally apply only to buildings with added
security, such as blocks with a door entry system.

12. The policy adopted by the former Housing Portfolio Holder in January 2010 would be
categorized as a ‘managed use’ policy as defined by the guidance, whereby residents were
given clear guidance on what could and could not be placed in the common parts.

13. Additional guidance has also been sought from Due Diligence, who are a specialist
company employed by the Council to undertake fire risk assessments to high risk category

Page 30



blocks, including the sheltered housing schemes as well as the Council's Homeless Hostel.
Their advice states that if the Council was to relax the policy to allow carpets in the common
parts, then there are several implications that would need to be taken into account. From their
observations and experience, the carpets that are generally fitted to common parts are ‘off
cuts’, and that they are not fitted professionally. This gives rise to the following issues:

(a) DIY laid carpets can and do become loose and wrinkled, causing slip and trip
hazards. If another tenant was to trip or injure themselves, then who would be liable, the
person that fitted the carpet, the Council or a combination of them both?

(b) If the tenant that fitted the carpet was to move away, who would be responsible for
removing and replacing the carpet when it becomes worn or dangerous?

(c) Carpets and rugs increase the potential for spread of flame, and production of smoke
and toxic fumes.

(d) Allowing carpets and rugs may increase the risk level from “low” to “medium”, which
may require automatic fire detection equipment (ie smoke detectors) as a compensatory
measure.

14. Their advice goes on to say that if the Council was to allow carpets to be fitted, then
there should be a clear policy, regular monitoring and the introduction of an application and
approval process, which would need to stipulate that these are to be professionally fitted
using non flammable adhesives and then inspected on a regular basis for wear and tear. This
is broadly the same advice as set out in the Local Government Forum guidance.

15. At the meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Panel in October 2011, the Environment
Portfolio Holder made reference to a letter he had received from the Essex Fire and Rescue
Service, which suggested that it was acceptable to allow carpets to be installed in common
parts, subject to a satisfactory risk assessment (see appendix 2). In light of this, the Housing
Scrutiny Panel asked that the report be deferred until such time as the contents of that letter
could be reviewed.

16. Upon receipt, a further letter was sent to the Essex Fire and Rescue Service seeking
clarification on a number of points, particularly seeking guidance on examples of where it
may be acceptable for carpets to be installed in common parts. The response from the Essex
Fire and Rescue Service, which is attached at Appendix 3, advises that generally, carpets in
common parts should be avoided.

17. A similar version of this report was considered in detail by the Housing Scrutiny Panel
on 31 January 2012. The Panel decided to support the recommendations set out at the
commencement of this report in full.

18. As part of the investigations into what other local authorities are doing with regard to
carpets in flat blocks, Officers have found that virtually all Local Authorities and housing
associations are adopting the ‘zero tolerance’ approach, whereby the common parts are to
remain as sterile environments. However, one neighbouring authority Harlow District Council
has adopted a slightly different approach whereby those blocks that already have carpets
fitted, so long as:

(a) they are in good condition, fitted professionally and do not present a trip hazard,;

(b) the flats have smoke detectors; and

(c) the main entrance has a door entry security system;

Page 31



then the carpet may remain until the carpet is no longer in a good condition. That Authority is
not currently allowing any further requests for carpets to be installed irrespective of the other
measures being in place.

19. Adopting a similar approach is an option for the Council, since many of the Council
owned flat blocks have door entry security already installed. However, it will be necessary to
agree who is responsible for the reinstatement of the common parts once the carpets are no
longer fit for purpose and present a hazard. It should be made absolutely clear that adopting
a similar approach would result in a higher risk to life should a fire occur in a block where a
carpet installed.

Issues around Advice from the Chief Fire Officer

20. Following the meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Panel in January 2012, the Council
received a further letter addressed to the Environment Portfolio Holder from the Chief Fire
Officer, Chief Executive & Head of Civil Protection and Emergency Management at Essex
County Fire & Rescue Service. That letter, which includes advice on where it may be
considered acceptable to allow carpets in common parts, is included at appendix 4.

21. There are seven aspects referred to in the letter received from the Chief Fire Officer
that are to be considered by the “Responsible Person” when undertaking the premises risk
assessment. However, taking account of this advice, it is still not possible to allow carpets to
be fitted in the common parts of flat blocks for the following reasons:

(a) All individual flats to have a mains smoke detector installed — This is considered later
in this report. However, it should be noted here that the Council is not able to enforce the
installation of smoke detectors in Leasehold premises since this is not a requirement in the
lease agreement. Whilst the Council is looking to install mains operated smoke detectors in
all Council owned properties, it will take some 4-5 years before all Council owned properties
have had them installed.

(b) All doors onto the means of escape should be 30 mins fire protected and should be
fitted with a self closing device — Whilst the Council is responsible for individual flat entrance
doors, the door furniture is the responsibility of the tenant, who may from time to time install
their own letter box or in some cases cat flaps. These could compromise the effectiveness of
the fire door. Entrance doors to leasehold properties are the responsibility of the Leaseholder
and not the Council. Also, whilst Council flat entrance doors are 30 mins fire protected, none
of the doors have self closing devices (with the exception of those in Sheltered
Accommodation).

(c) No storage of personal belongings in the common parts — This is referred to in the
recommendations above

(d) A high standard of general housekeeping by tenants — The Council is only able to
purvey this expectation, it is unable to enforce it. An example is where the Council has
installed “No Smoking” signs in the common parts to all flat blocks. However, despite this
expectation, Officers often find cigarette ends and discarded lighters on window ledges.

(e) The provision of a controlled door entry security system — a large proportion of flat
blocks have the benefit of a controlled door entry security system, but not all. The ones that
remain to have a controlled door entry security system installed are the ones where there are
more than 25% leaseholders and therefore, the Council has to consult with Leaseholders
before installing such a system, and then requires them to pay their proportion of the costs.
Without the consent of all Leaseholders in the block, the Council cannot install a system.

Page 32



) The carpets conform to BS 5287, are professionally fitted and maintained to a good
standard — Since carpets are not labelled, it will be impossible to determine compliance with
this British Standard.

(9) An effective building inspection and management system — This is considered as part
of the “shared services” section below in partnership with Harlow District Council.

22. It is therefore recommended that carpets in common parts of the flat blocks should not
be allowed to remain (or fitted at a later date) and that the Council enforces the removal of
carpets where residents have either loose laid or fitted them.

Smoke Alarms

23. In line with the decision of the previous Housing Portfolio Holder in January 2011, a
feasibility study has been carried out into the cost of providing mains wired smoke detectors
in individual flats, maisonettes and common parts to flat blocks. This decision would sit
favourably with the guidance from the Local Government Forum and Due Diligence if it was
not to include alarms in the common parts. However, the feasibility study was undertaken
prior to that guidance and also prior to the changes in the new Wiring Regulations that came
into force in January 2012, which specifies the installation of mains powered smoke detectors
in properties where minor upgrades or rewires are found to be necessary. As a result, there is
already a programme to install mains powered smoke detectors as part of the ongoing
electrical upgrade and rewire contracts.

24. Installing mains operated smoke detectors is clearly an improvement that would save
many lives and therefore should be considered as part of any future improvements. It is
therefore recommended that the Council continues with the current programme of installing
smoke detectors in all properties. However, it is proposed that the cost and programme
implications of enhancing the current programme be considered by the Housing Scrutiny
Panel as part of the proposed list of Housing Improvements and Service Enhancements in
March 2012. This matter was considered by the Housing Scrutiny Panel on 31 January 2012,
which supported this proposal.

25. As stated earlier in this report, the fire safety guidance issued by the Local
Government Group strongly discourages the installation of smoke detectors in common parts
as this leads to false alarms, chaotic evacuation of an unsupervised building and potential
complacency from residents.

Shared Services

26. Whilst not specific to the issue of carpets in flat blocks, it is worth mentioning that
whilst researching the policies adopted with other local authorities, it has become clear that
there may be an opportunity to work in conjunction with Harlow District Council whereby the
role of undertaking Fire Risk Assessments could be undertaken collectively, therefore
potentially saving resources as a result. In this case, the neighboring Authority undertaking
the fire risk assessments and the Council saving on the cost of employing Consultants and
overtime for existing staff to carry out them ourselves. A preliminary meeting has taken place,
and subject to the existing staffing resources being able to cope with the additional number of
fire risk assessments, and the cost of them to the Council being less than the current
arrangement, then this may be an opportunity that the Council may wish to pursue.

Resource Implications:

The cost of installing the mains powered smoke detectors in all Council owned dwellings to

Page 33



be considered as part of the Service Enhancements associated with HRA Self Financing.
Legal and Governance Implications:

e Housing and Regeneration Act 2008
e Housing Act 1985
e Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005

Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications:
None
Consultation Undertaken:

¢ Housing Minister, with a response from the Parliamentary Under Secretary of State.
Due Diligence, a specialist Consultancy employed by the Council to undertake fire risk
assessments.
e Consultation with neighboring Local Authorities, other Local Authorities and Registered
Social Landlords. The Housing Scrutiny Panel have also considered and support this
report.
e Consultation with the Leaseholders Federation, who made the following observations:
a. Leaseholders felt that there should be a zero tolerance policy on personal items in
common parts;

b. Leaseholders would have concerns about the Council fitting smoke detectors in
their homes and charging them for this; and,

c. Leaseholders reminded the Council of their obligations under Section 20 to consult
them if the cost was to exceed £250 per property.

Background Papers:

a. Housing Portfolio Holder decision dated January 2010, setting the Policy on Fire Safety
in flat blocks.

b. Housing Portfolio Holder decision dated January 2011, suspending the decision not to
allow carpets to be installed in flat blocks.

c. Guidance document produced by the Local Government Group entitled “Fire safety in
purpose-built blocks of flats”

d. Report from Due Diligence who are a specialist company employed by the Council to
undertake fire risk assessments to high risk category blocks, giving advice on the
installation of carpets in flat blocks

Impact Assessments:

Risk Management

If the Council was to allow carpets currently fitted in flat blocks to remain and there was a fire,
which resulted in toxic fumes or other hazard causing a fatality, then the Council may be
responsible. Whilst the severity cannot be downgraded, the likelihood could be reduced.
However, this would mean increased numbers of inspections to assess the risk, which would
add to the staff workload. Even then, the risk is higher than if carpets were not permitted.

Equality and Diversity

Did the initial assessment of the proposals contained in this report for No
relevance to the Council’s general equality duties, reveal any potentially

adverse equality implications?

Page 34



Where equality implications were identified through the initial assessment N/A
process, has a formal Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?

What equality implications were identified through the Equality Impact Assessment process?
N/A.

How have the equality implications identified through the Equality Impact Assessment been
addressed in this report in order to avoid discrimination against any particular group?

This report sets out policies on fire safety matters that will apply to all Council owned flat
blocks irrespective of tenure or occupancy. The views of residents have been taken into
account. However, these have been weighed up against the Council’s Duty of Care towards
the residents when putting forward the recommendations set out in the report.

Page 35



Appendix 1

o®%e Bob Neill MP
: Communities Parliamentary Under Secretary of State

‘. .. and Local Government Department for Communities and Local
Government
Eland House

Councillor David Stallan Bressenden Place

Housing Portfolio Holder London SW1E 5DU

EPP'”gf';OFESt District Council Tel: 0303 444 3430

Civic Offices Fax: 0303 444 3986

High Street E-Mail; bob.neill@communities.gsi.gov.uk

Epping

Essex www.communities.gov.uk

CM16 4BZ

Our Ref: GS/BN/022225/11

j CS\.\,\(IL) %-J\LN\ 08 JuL 201

FIRE SAFETY IN FLAT BLOCKS

Thank you for your letter of 7 April to the Rt Hon Grant Shapps MP, about fire safety in
purpose built blocks of flats. | am replying as | have responsibility for fire safety policy.

| recognise concerns about the provision of fire safety in blocks of flats. The tragic fire in
Lakanal House, Camberwell, gave rise to concerns among housing providers — local
authorities, housing associations and the private sector — and the enforcing authorities
about the adequacy of risk assessments and fire safety measures necessary to ensure
sufficient protection to residents and deliver compliance under both the Regulatory Reform
(Fire Safety) Order 2005 (the FSO) and the Housing Act 2004.

Both the housing and fire sectors considered that additional fire safety guidance should be
developed to focus on the particular circumstances and challenges presented by purpose
built blocks of flats. We listened carefully to the concerns of the sector on this, and have
provided Local Government Improvement and Development (LIGD) — part of the Local
Government Group — with grant funding to develop and own, on behalf of the sector,
practical and proportionate fire safety guidance specifically for these types of residential
buildings. The guidance is expected to clarify a number of issues around managing fire
safety and ensuring rasidents in purpose built flats get appropriate advice on what to do in
the event of a fire. LGID has consulted widely on the draft guidance, and plan to make the
final guidance available on its website, and for dissemination by sector partners, by the
end of July.

Finally, you ask about the role of the Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs). As the
enforcing authorities, FRAs are, of course, unable to carry out the risk assessment for

those with responsibilities under the FSO. However, they are expected to support
compliance through the provision of advice and information as appropriate.

o irn

BOB NEILL MP

Page 36



Appendix 2

Essex County
Fire & Rescue Service

Our ref: PB/CD Headquarters
Your ref: Kelvedon Park
Enquiries to: Camilla Disley London Road
Email: camilla.disley@essex-fire.gov.uk .
Rivenhall
18 June 2010 Witham
CM8 3HB
) Tel: 01376 576 103
Councillor Knapman Fax: 01376 570 466
76 The Bowls www.essex-fire.gov.uk
Chigwell
Loughton

Essex IG7 6ND

Dear Councillor Knapman
Surface Spread of Flame within Common Areas

Further to our conversation regarding surface spread of flame in common areas at
the recent Fire Authority meeting, | can confirm the following definitions, which are
referred to within various guides, including the Building Regulations and Approved
Document B.

In essence, the choice of materials for walls and ceilings can significantly affect the
spread of fire and its rate of growth, even though they are not likely to be the first
materials ignited. The flame spread over wall and ceiling surfaces is controlled by
providing for the lining materials to meet given performance levels in tests
appropriate to the materials or products involved.

The national test for establish the surface spread of flame is British Standard 476.
This tests all materials, and gives a grading of between 1 and 4, with 1 as the least
flammable. The Building Regulations describe a Class 0 material, which is a totally
non flammable material (i.e. gypsum plaster or a brick). Whilst accepted within the
guides, these are not covered by the British Standard.

The above provisions do not apply to the upper surfaces of floors and stairs because
they are not significantly involved in a fire until it is well developed, and thus do not
play an important part in fire spread in the early stages of a fire that are most relevant
to the safety of occupants, and therefore any floor covering that may be in place.

However, should the fire risk assessment for the premises show that the floor
covering presents an excessive risk of exacerbating the spread of fire, it would be
deemed as not complying with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety Order) 2005, and
the Fire Authority may take action to address this element.

Page 37



| hope this is of some help; however should you require any further information,
please do not hesitate to contact me at the above address.

Yours sincerely

Paul Bowers
Senior Divisional Officer
Prevention, Protection & Community Risk Management

Page 38



Appendix 3

Essex County
Fire & Rescue Service

Mr David Johnson LL.B(Hons), BSc, MA, MSg, FCMI
Chief Fire Officer & Chief Executive

Essex FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE

Mr Paul Pledger SERVICE HEADQUARTERS
Civic Offices ISBluadon Park
High Street WITHAM

CM8 3HB
EPPING 7 01376 576000
Essex CM16 4BZ [54] www.essex-fire.gov.uk
Date: Wednesday, 21 December 2011
Our Ref: C00098

Your Ref: FRA/PP

i = . HPP] ® T ——
Enquiries to:  jon.payne@essex-fire.gov.uk | EPPING FOREST DISTR{(

CouNe]
HOUSING Ny, oNCH

2.3 DEC 2014

PATE

Dear Mr Pledger f

Carpets in Common Parts to Flat Blocks —— |

I am writing in response to your letter to SDO Paul Bowers of 15th November 2011, regarding the
matter of carpets in common parts to blocks of flats.

I would take this opportunity to reinforce the informal advice that has been previously provided by
Essex County Fire & Rescue Service Officers, that carpets in common parts should be avoided.
The decision to remove existing carpets from common parts will be influenced by the findings of a
site specific risk assessment and should take account of a number of factors, many of which are
detailed in the report presented to the Housing Scrutiny Panel in October 2011. Therefore, and
as this is a matter for the Responsible Person as designated under the Regulatory Reform (Fire
Safety) Order 2005, | am unable to provide more specific advice on your enquiry.

DO Jon“Payne
Fire Safety Officer

cc

ECFRS/175719/V1

DOING MORE THAN WE HAVE EVER DONE TO MAKE ESSEX SAFE

Page 39



Appendix 4

‘Date: 2™ February, 2012 . ESSeX County
OurRef: DIIP fib DME180591 Y 1
You Rel: Fire & Rescue Service
Enqu{ries to: !:inda Boar t
Emal: - Indabosr@essorfie.0oVbk . Gpief Fire Officer: David Johnson LL.B(Hons), BSG, MA, MSc; FCM)
Councillor J Knapman : ; -
76 The Bowis . o E::g:nuags
- Chigwell , : : . Fvenhal
Essex IG7 6ND o 7 "~ Witham,
. Essex
' L - _ ] - CMB3HB
Dear Clir Knapman o o .- Tel: 01376 576000

Fax:. (1376 570466
www.essex-fire.gov.uk

Carpets.in Common Parts fo Flat Blocks

Further to our teiephone conversation of 1st February 2012, 1 am writing to confirm- the position of
ECFRS regardmg the matter of carpets in common parts to ﬂat blocks :

As drscussed the decrsron tq allow carpets in-common parts of ﬂat blocks should be based on the
findings of a site specific c nakiassessment and rests with the Responsrbie Person as desrgnated
under the Regulatory Refonm (Fire Safety) Order 2005

- However, as a general :pncrple carpets in common parts would be consrdered accepiable
subject to the following'conditions: : L

All individual flats are fitted with mains operated smoke detectors. :

All doors gi\'/ing onto the common: part, including individual flat doors, are maintained to

provide a minithum of 30 minutes fire resistance in accordance wrth BS 476 and are fitted

with a suitable self-closing device.
e No storage of personal belongrngs or other oombustrble rtems ls perrmtted wrthrn the

common parts. - o

A high standard of general housekeeping by tenants. :

The provision and maintenance of an effective main entrance door entry secunty system,
»  The carpets.conform to BS 5287, are: professronally fitted, and maintained in'a good

condition. o

e - An effective building mspectron and management system.

All of the above is offered as genera! advrce which the Responsnble Person may take account of
when undertaking the premises risk assessment. i

Yours sincerely,

o

=

David Johnson
Chief Fire Officer, Chief Executrve &
Head of Civil Protection and Emergency Management

Page 40



EXTRACT FROM CABINET DECISION SHEET FOR CABINET
MEETING HELD ON 12 MARCH 2012 - PUBLISHED ON 20
MARCH 2012

Fire Safety in Flat Blocks (C-067-2011-12)

(1) That the removal of personal belongings and any other items stored in common parts
of flats be enforced, with the exception of the following concessions as put forward by
the Workplace Fire Safety Officer of the Essex Fire and Rescue Service:

(a) Pictures hung on the wall, provided that they did not contain glass in the
frame;

(b) Mats placed outside front doors, provided that these were rubber backed
(non-slip) and had a chamfered edge all around,;

(c) Curtains at windows, provided that they were flame retardant; and

(d) Non-flammable items which were aesthetically pleasing (e.g. plant pots),
provided that they were stored in recesses away from any means of escape
routes, and not on window sills.

(2) That carpets in common parts of flat blocks not be allowed and that, after a four-
month period of the date of this decision, the removal of carpets where residents had
previously loose laid or fitted them and had not removed them voluntarily be enforced by
the Council, unless the following conditions were met within the four-month period as
advised by the Chief Fire Officer of the Essex County Fire & Rescue Service in his letter
to the Council dated 2 February 2012:

(a) confirmation that all individual flats affected would be fitted with mains
operated smoke detectors by the occupiers or the Council within one year of this
decision;

(b) all doors leading onto common areas, including individual flat doors, provide a
minimum of 30 minutes fire resistance in accordance with BS 476 and be fitted
with a suitable self-closing device by the tenant or leaseholder concerned at their
cost;

(c) no personal belongings or other combustible items be stored by tenants,
leaseholders or visitors within the common areas at any time;

(d) a high standard of general housekeeping be maintained by all tenants and
leaseholders at all times;

(e) an effective main entrance door and security entry system be provided and
maintained;

(f) the carpets:
(i) conform to BS 5287,

(i) be professionally fitted in the first instance, with evidence provided to the
Council of such professional fitting; and

Page 41



(iif) be maintained in a good condition at all times; and

(g) an effective building inspection and management system be maintained by
the Council.

(3) That carpets only be allowed to remain in accordance with (2) above, if all tenants
and leaseholders in a block had confirmed to the Council in writing within the four-month
period referred to above their agreement to:

(a) wanting the existing carpets to remain;

(b) not holding the Council responsible or liable in the future for any accidents,
fires or incidents occurring as a result of the carpets remaining;

(c) ensuring that the conditions in (2) above would be maintained by them at all
times; and

(d) in the case of leaseholders, entering into a Deed of Variation with the Council,
at the leaseholder’'s cost, to vary their lease to commit and bind subsequent
leaseholders of their properties the conditions referred to in (2) above when the
lease is assigned in the future.

(4) That further consideration be given to undertaking an enhancement programme of
installing mains-powered smoke detectors in all Council-owned properties, as part of the
Housing Scrutiny Panel’'s deliberation of the proposed list of housing improvements and
service enhancements, funded from the additional resources made available under HRA
Self-Financing.

(5) That smoke alarms not be installed in common parts of flat blocks in line with the
recommendations within the Local Government Group Guidance document “Fire safety
in purpose built flat blocks”.

(6) That a joint working approach to fire safety risk assessments in flat blocks with
Harlow District Council be further explored by the Director of Housing and reported back
to a future meeting of the Cabinet.

Page 42



Annex 3
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

APPENDIX 1

PROTOCOL ON CONSIDERATION AND REPORTING ON EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
CALLED IN BY OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

1. Purpose of Protocol

(a) To codify how the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel
should deal with "call in" items.

(b) To codify how the Executive should respond to reports by Overview and
Scrutiny on decisions which have been called in.

2, Validation of "Call In"

2.1 All "call in" requests shall be made in writing in accordance with the Council's
constitution. "Call in" requests shall only be made by members of the Council who
are not members of the Executive. The "call in" shall be validated by the Chief
Executive and referred to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consideration in
accordance with the provisions of the constitution.

3. Consideration of "Call In" Items by Overview and Scrutiny Committee

3.1 Consideration of Call-ins shall be the responsibility of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee which will decide whether to consider the issue itself or direct a Panel to
undertake it and report back to the decision maker. "Call in" items shall be referred to
the next available date for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel.
The provisions of the Overview and Scrutiny Rules in the Council's constitution will
apply to "call in" requests which need to be dealt with more quickly.

3.2  Atits meeting, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel will receive:

(a) copies of all documentation submitted to the Executive on which the decision
was based;

(b) a copy of the written notification of the "call in" including the names of the
relevant Councillors who requested the "call in" and their grounds for so doing; and

(c) any other relevant documentation.

3.3 The relevant Executive Portfolio Holder and at least one of the members who
activated the "call in" and who shall act as spokesperson for those members, shall
attend the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel meeting.

3.4 The "call in" decision shall be considered in the following manner:

(a) the representative of the Councillors calling in the decision shall describe their
concerns;

(b) the Portfolio Holder shall then respond

Page 43



(c) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel will then debate the
issues involved. The Chairman of the meeting shall have the discretion to vary the
way in which evidence is gathered including speakers and public participation if
appropriate but shall seek a response from the initiating Councillor(s) and the Portfolio
Holder before formulating its recommendations;

(d) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel has the following
options:

0] confirm the decision, which may then be implemented immediately, or

(i) refer the decision back to the decision taker for further consideration setting
out in writing the nature of its concerns, or

(iii) refer the matter to full Council in the event that the Committee or Panel
considers the decision to be contrary to the policy framework of the Council or
contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the budget.

(e) If it appears that the review of a decision of the Executive cannot be
completed at one meeting, the Executive or decision taker will be informed, indicating
any preliminary views the Committee or Panel may have and a proposed timescale
for the completion of the review. The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee/Panel shall, if necessary, consult with the Leader of the Council regarding
the urgency of the proposed decision or any other related matter;

() The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel
shall sum up the recommendations to be submitted to the Executive and these shall
be incorporated in full in the Minutes or report of the meeting;

(9) In cases where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel
determines that a review of the decision is not justified or that, having reviewed the
decision of the Executive, it has no adverse comment to make, the Committee or
Panel shall ensure that its decision is published in the Members' Bulletin;

(h) In the circumstances outlined in (g) above, the decision of the Executive or
Decision Taker may be implemented with effect from the date of that meeting;

(1) A report detailing any appropriate recommendations of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel shall be reported to the Decision Taker

() In presenting the recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
or delegated Panel, the Chairman may make general comments on the
Committee's/Panel’s recommendations, answer questions and respond to comments
or new proposals made by the Executive at that meeting; and

(k) The report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel shall
be sent in draft to all its Members for approval prior to their submission to the Decision
Taker.

)] Minority reports may be made by members of Overview and Scrutiny
Committee or delegated Panel in accordance with the Protocol for that purpose.

Paget44



41

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

Consideration of Reports on "Call In" Items by the Executive

The report of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel will be referred
in the first instance to the relevant Portfolio Holder(s) for the executive function
concerned.

If the Executive decision is one which the Portfolio Holder(s) has delegated powers to
make, he or she shall consider the written proposals of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee or delegated Panel, must consult the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
and delegated Panel Chairmen if he or she is minded to accept or reject them. In
doing so the Portfolio Holder will ensure that, in recording that decision, the reasons
for accepting, rejecting or amending those views are set out in the decision notice.

If the Executive decision is one which the Executive itself or a Committee of the
Executive (acting under delegated powers) is competent to take, the relevant Portfolio
Holder will consider the proposals of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or
delegated Panel and refer them, with his or her written response, to the decision
making body concerned.

At a meeting of the Executive or of any Committee of the Executive, the following
documentation shall be submitted:

(a) the agreed report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel
and any other supporting documents considered by it;

(b) a report of the Portfolio Holder indicating the response to the proposals of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel, indicating the options available
and recommendation for acceptance, rejection or alteration of those proposals with
reasons; and

(c) any other information.
The Executive or Committee of the Executive shall consider the matter as follows:

(a) the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel
shall present the views and recommendations of the Committee/Panel based on the
report of the relevant OSC meeting and respond to questions, make general
comments and respond to new proposals as appropriate;

(b) the relevant Portfolio Holder shall then respond by presenting his report and
recommendations on the proposals of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or
delegated Panel;

(c) the Executive (or Committee thereof) shall then consider the original decision,
the views of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel and any
proposals by the Portfolio Holder; and

(d) the Executive (or Executive Committee) will then make a final decision on
whether to re-affirm the original decision, amend the original decision or substitute a
new decision. This decision shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting together
with supporting reasons.

Where a Committee of the Executive is required to report to the full Executive on any

matter, it shall submit a recommendation on action proposed to the Executive as part
of the minutes of the meeting.

Page 45



5.1

6.1

6.2

7.1

7.2

Implementation of Decisions When Cabinet Control or Membership Changes

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 3.4(g) and (h) above, where political
control of the Cabinet or Cabinet membership changes following the Annual Council
meeting each year, any decision made by the Executive and supported by the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel following a "call-in" but not
implemented before the changes occur, shall stand referred to the Cabinet for further
review before action is taken.

Consideration of "Call In" Reports of Overview and Scrutiny Committees made
to the Full Council

In some circumstances, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or delegated Panel
may choose to refer the results of their consideration of "call in" items to the full
Council, rather than the Executive in those instances set out in paragraph 3.4 (d) (iii)
above and 6.2 below. With any necessary modification the "call in" shall be dealt with
at the Council meeting in accordance with paragraphs 4.1 - 4.5 above.

In considering whether to report to the full Council, the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee or delegated Panel shall take account of the advice of the proper officer
on:

(a) whether the Council may properly determine the matter if the function is
delegated to the Executive;

(b) whether the Executive decision affects the policy or budget framework of the
Authority and should properly be determined by the Council;

(c) whether the Executive decision relates to a matter which either reserved to the
full Council by the constitution or by resolution; and

(d) any other advice which indicates that, for whatever reason, a report to the
Executive is more appropriate to the proper despatch of Council business.

Restriction on "Call In"

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall at all times be aware that the decisions of
the regulatory or non-executive bodies of the Council are not subject to "call in".

The "call in" procedure shall also not apply to any recommendation by the Cabinet to
the full Council.

Pages46



8.1

9.1

Definitions
For the purpose of this Protocol, the following definitions shall apply:
(a) "Executive"

This term should be interpreted as referring to the Cabinet, a Cabinet Committee or
an individual Portfolio Holder acting under delegated powers.

(b) "Decision"”

Denotes a decision on an Executive function by the Cabinet, a Committee of the
Cabinet or of an individual Portfolio Holder.

(c) “Decision Taker”

This means the Cabinet, a Cabinet Committee or an individual Portfolio Holder who
made the original decision.

Review of Protocol

This Protocol will be reviewed by the Council as part of its constitution as and when
appropriate.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



	Agenda
	4 Notes of the Last Two Panel Meetings
	Minutes Public Pack, 13/03/2012 Housing Scrutiny Standing Panel

	5 Terms of Reference
	6 Call-In Cabinet Decision on Fire Safety in Flat Blocks
	Call in Sheet
	Cabinet report - C-067-2011/12
	Extract from Cabinet Decision Sheet
	Call-in Rules


